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then-senator john 
fitzgerald kennedy 

speaking on his campaign 
tour. he eventually won 

the election and was 
sworn in as president 

of the united states on 
january 20, 1961

KENNEDY
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It was 50 years 
ago, on November 
22, 1963, that John 
Fitzgerald Kennedy 
was assassinated in 
Dallas, Texas. To this 
day, those gunshots 
resonate around the 
world. Chris Wright 
takes us through 
the fateful days in 
question, set in the 
context of a vibrant 
and unsettled YEAR

we 
interupt 
this 
broadcast
the shot 
that 
changed 
america
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january 1961

It is tempting to look back on 
1963 as a halcyon time presided 
over by a much-loved US 
president. Yet the true picture 
was nowhere near as clear. 

Kennedy had been sworn 
in as the 35th President of 
the United States on January 
20, 1961. Since that day, his 
presidency had been dominated 
not by harmony but by 
confrontation, chiefly with the 
Soviet Union. These were the 
early salvos of what we would 
come to know as the Cold War. 
In particular, in April 1962 he 
authorised the disastrous Bay 
of Pigs invasion in an attempt 
to overthrow the government 
of Fidel Castro, because it was 
considered sympathetic to 
the Russians. Members of the 
invading force were either killed 
or captured, and it would take 
Kennedy the best part of two 
years to negotiate the release 
of the 1,189 survivors — in 
exchange for US$53 million 
worth of food and medicine. 

Then in October 1962 came 
the Cuban Missile Crisis. The 
situation had escalated after it 
became clear the Soviets were 

   January–
October  

 1963

building ballistic missile sites in 
Cuba; the event is considered by 
many to be the closest the world 
has come to nuclear war.

As 1963 began, tensions with 
Premier Nikita Khrushchev’s 
Soviet Union had at least 
declined, but for the US there 
were plenty of other problems, 
both at home and abroad.

Domestically, the year up 
until November would be 
dominated by Kennedy’s civil 
rights struggle. In February, he 
announced his plans for new 
legislation, ensuring that all 
black Americans would have 
the right to vote, discrimination 
would be outlawed, and 
segregation — the practice of 
keeping black and white people 
separate, with black facilities 
always greatly inferior to white 
— would be ended. 

“Legislation was necessary 
because without it, nothing had 
changed since emancipation 100 
years before,” writes Andrew 
Cook in his book 1963. “Black 
children were growing up with 
the prospect of radically lower 
earnings, poorer health, inferior 
education and shorter lives than 
whites born at the same time.” 

It seems obscene today, but 
one speech from January 14 of 
that year gives a sense of just 
what Kennedy was up against. 
“Segregation now, segregation 
tomorrow, and segregation 
forever.” The speaker was not 
some ignored lunatic-fringe 
bigot, but George C Wallace, 
the governor of Alabama, and 
he was making his inaugural 
speech to the entire state. Five 
months later Wallace would 
block the door of the University 
of Alabama to protest against 
integration, although progress 
would eventually get him out of 
the way, when James Hood and 
Vivian Malone became the first 
African-Americans to enroll.

Kennedy introduced his 
Civil Rights Bill to Congress 
in June. No decision had been 
made on it by August, when 
the March on Washington for 
Jobs and Freedom took place in 
the nation’s capital. According 
to some accounts 300,000 
people, including families with 
children, made their way to the 
Lincoln Memorial. “They walked 
peacefully in their Sunday best 
to spirituals sung by Mahalia 
Jackson and Marion Anderson, 
and responded to the speeches 

april 1962

bay of pigs invasionjohn f kennedy is elected as the 35th president of the united states

october 1962

the cuban missile crisis

KENNEDY

with applause and cheers,” 
one account says. One of the 
speeches in question, on August 
28, would become one of the 
most famous in history: Martin 
Luther King’s “I have a dream”.

King’s dream must have still 
seemed distant at the time: in 
April, he had been arrested with 
many others in Birmingham, 
Alabama for parading without a 
permit. A few weeks after that, 
hundreds of African-Americans, 
including children, were 
arrested in the same place for 
protesting against segregation. 
And, after King’s Washington 
speech, things would get much 
worse before they got better. 
On September 15, the 16th 
Street Baptist Church, again in 
Birmingham, was firebombed, 
killing four and injuring 22.

For his work for black 
America, Kennedy was loved 
and loathed in equal measure, 
with many in the South in 
particular despising him. And 
this was not all on his plate: 
other events in the year varied 
from the very positive — his 

renowned “Ich bin ein Berliner” 
speech in West Berlin on June 
26, and a Nuclear Test-Ban 
Treaty between the US, the UK 
and the Soviet Union in August 
— to the bad, with the seeds 
being sown of the United States’ 
engagement in Vietnam. 

Today, Johnson and Nixon 
are the US presidents most 
commonly associated with the 
escalation of war in Vietnam, 
but in truth, the engagement 
there started with Kennedy, 
when American advisors began 
to be sent in to South Vietnam 
as concerns grew of a spreading 

AS 1963 
began, 
tensions 
with the 
Soviet Union 
had at least 
declined, 
but there 
were plenty 
of other 
problems,
at home and 
abroad

june 1963

kennedy presents proposed civil rights bill to congress
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ABOVE: at the age of 43, 
Kennedy was the youngest 
person to be elected 
president of the united states
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The persons of 
interest, and their 
jobs and locations at 
the time of shooting

THE CAST OF 
THE DRAMA

john f 
kennedy
35th President 
of the United 
States
Back seat of the 
presidential 
limousine on the 
way to downtown 
Dallas, turning off 
Main Street, into 
Dealey Plaza

lee harvey 
oswald
shooter
Corner of sixth floor 
of the Texas School 
Book Depository 
Building on 411 Elm 
Street, Dallas

jackie 
kennedy
first lady
Seated next to  
her husband

lyndon 
johnson
us vice-
president 
and later, 36th 
president of 
the united 
states
Seated in the 
vice-presidential 
limousine, which 
is behind the 
presidential limo

John 
Connally 
texas 
governor
Seated in front of 
the Kennedys in the 
presidential limo, 
with his wife, Nellie 

Ralph 
Yarborough
texas senator
Seated with the 
Johnsons in the 
vice-presidential 
limousine, behind the 
presidential car 

Communist presence. The 
“advisors” were in fact special 
forces and CIA intelligence, and 
from 1962, the United States 
would start supplying them 
helicopters and armoured 
personnel carriers in force. 

Early in 1963, at Ap Tan 
Thoi, the Americans sought to 
use 10 helicopters to bring the 
South Vietnamese force into 
an area where the Viet Cong 
were thought to be, but as they 
dropped the troops in what 
they thought was a quiet area, 

the Viet Cong opened fire and 
brought down four helicopters. 
This became known as the 
Battle of Ap Bac.

“Ap Bac demonstrated 
that Diem’s lacklustre army 
was not competent enough to 
destroy a resurgent Viet Cong, 
particularly in the Mekong River 
Delta and Vietnam’s many miles 
of remote forest,” writes Cook 
of the surprise response. “For 
the Americans, it would lead to 
massive troop commitments in 
Vietnam and the paralysis of the 
Johnson Administration from its 
first to last day.”

Meanwhile, Kennedy's 
brother Robert (commonly 
known as Bobby), the Attorney 
General, had confronted 
organised crime, and on March 
21, closed the now-legendary 
Alcatraz Federal Penitentiary.

Around the Kennedys, culture 
too was changing. “The year 
1963 was to be the seminal 
year when most of the things 
we now associate with the 
Swinging Sixties really began,” 
writes Cook. The Beatles 

recorded their debut album, 
Please Please Me, in a single 
session on February 11; their 
second, With The Beatles, was 
released on November 22, a day 
now famous for much darker 
reasons. Dr No, the first James 
Bond film, was released in the 
United States in May, and the 
second, From Russia With Love, 
opened in London in October. 
In Britain, where That Was The 
Week That Was introduced satire 
to mainstream TV, even the 
scandal of the year looked cool: 
the Profumo Scandal, which 
eventually unseated Prime 
Minister Harold Macmillan, 
centred around the gorgeous 
and glamorous Christine Keeler. 

On June 16, half a world 
away, Soviet cosmonaut 
Valentina Tereshkova became 
the first woman in space, on 
the Vostok 6 mission. Two 
years after Kennedy’s speech 
committing the US to put a man 
on the moon by the end of the 
decade, America still seemed 
well behind in the space race — 
but that dream at least would 
outlive the president. 

november

1963

august 1963

martin luther king jr gives famous "I have a dream" speech

On November 2, South 
Vietnamese president Ngo 
Dinh Diem was assassinated 
following a military coup, and 
on November 6, General Duong 
Van Minh took over as leader 
of South Vietnam. Although 
Kennedy couldn’t yet know 
it, a full war with American 
involvement was about to 
escalate in Vietnam. 

As for Kennedy himself, 
around this time he was 
preparing for a potentially 
worrying three-day trip to Texas. 
In all of the United States, this 
was perhaps the state in which 
resentment of Kennedy was 
thought to be the most virulent, 
and security preparations were 
intense. On November 21, the 
president and his entourage 
— including his wife, Jackie 
Kennedy — arrived in Houston, 
spending the night in Fort Worth. 

The following account 
is drawn from a range of 
different sources, but follows 
approximately the official line of 
the assassination as examined 
by the Warren Commission, 
which was appointed to 
investigate. In particular, our 
principal source is Reclaiming 
History, an extraordinary, 
million-word examination of 
the assassination by Vincent 
Bugliosi, and his subsequent 
500-page distillation, Four Days 
in November. Bugliosi, a lawyer 
by trade, put such immense 
effort into this that it even 
converted some conspiracy 
theorists. Vince Palamara, a 
Secret Service expert and long-
standing conspiracy theorist, 
said the book was “a devastating 
knockout blow to those who, like 
me, once believed there was a 
conspiracy in the death of JFK”. 
He added, “It is time to get a life, 
America: Oswald did indeed kill 
Kennedy, acting alone.” But still, 
not everyone is convinced.

Kennedy speaking at a 
press conference on 
November 2, 1962. He told 
journalists that there 
was evidence that Soviet 
missile bases in Cuba 
were being dismantled 
above: A group of Fidel 
Castro's soldiers after 
the US-backed invasion 
at the Bay of Pigs, in 
cuba, was routed

"The year 
1963 was 
to be the 
seminal 
year when 
most of 
the things 
we now 
associate 
with the 
Swinging 
Sixties 
really 
began"

some of the conspiracy theories 
about the assassination include: 
Castro and the Cubans did it; the 
Soviets did it; the CIA did it; the 
Mob did it. Each of these has had 
much written in their support. 

writer Lamar Waldron, for 
example, has spent 20 years 
on the Mob theory, publishing 
two books on it. He argues 
that the Kennedys planned 
to stage a coup against Fidel 
Castro in Cuba on December 1, 
10 days after the Dallas trip, 
and that three Mafia bosses 
infiltrated thE plan. He says the 
three bosses all made credible 
confessions later in life. 

Oswald HAD clearly 
interacted with the Soviets 
(he defected to Russia before 
moving back), the Cubans 
(through his membership of the 
Fair Play for Cuba Committee), 
and indeed US state agencies, 
having been monitored by the 
FBI for some time. Employees of 
the CIA’s Tokyo station later said 
it was common knowledge that 
Oswald had gone to Russia on 
the CIA’s behalf

conspiracy 
theories

november 1963early november 1963

kennedy plans a three-day trip to texassouth vietnamese president ngo dinh diem assassinated
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THE CAST OF 
THE DRAMA

abraham 
zapruder
dressmaker
Recorded the 
infamous video of 
the assassination 
on his new eight-
millimetre Bell and 
Howell camera

wesley 
frazier
colleague 
of oswald 
at the book 
depository
Gave Oswald a 
ride to work. Noted 
that Oswald was 
carrying a long, 
light brown paper 
package with him

clint hill
secret service 
agent
Standing on the 
running board 
of the follow-up 
car behind the 
presidential limo

roy 
kellerman
senior secret 
service agent
Seated in the front 
passenger seat of 
the presidential 
limousine

will fritz
police captain
Not present at the 
scene of crime, but 
Fritz was one of the 
lead investigators

bill greer
secret service 
agent, driver 
of presidential 
limousine 
Seated in the driver's 
seat of the limo, to 
Kellerman's left
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above: Dealey Plaza, in 
dallas, was to become 
the scene of the crime. 
the texas book depository 
building, in which oswald 
lay in wait, is pictured left

8.00am 11.55am
the president begins his day in fort worth, but will soon head to dallas oswald arrives at the depository building the presidential motorcade leaves love field airport

7.20am Lee Harvey Oswald 
leaves the house where his 
Russian wife, Marina, is staying 
with their young children in 
Irving, Texas. Wesley Frazier 
works with him at the Texas 
School Book Depository, a 
company based at 411 Elm 
Street in Dallas that stores and 
ships school textbooks. Frazier 
gives him a ride in to work. He 
sees Oswald is carrying a long, 
light brown paper package. 
When Frazier asks, Oswald tells 
him it is curtain rods.

7.30am US President John F 
Kennedy is awoken by his valet 
George Thomas in Suite 850 of 
the Texas Hotel, Fort Worth. 

8am Oswald and Frazier arrive 
at the Depository Building. Later 
today, the president’s motorcade 
will pass right in front of it. 

8.30am Kennedy is briefed 
by Brigadier General 
Godfrey McHugh with CIA 
reports on Saigon, Cyprus 
and Korea. Kennedy looks 
at the metropolitan dailies, 
which are filled with articles 
about squabbles in the Texas 
Democratic Party, as well as 
coverage of the president’s visit. 
Dallas police chief Jesse Curry 
is quoted on the efforts being 
made, saying 350 police officers 
— a third of his force — would 
be assigned to Kennedy’s guard. 
(Bugliosi says in total 447 Dallas 
police officers were assigned to 
the president’s visit, 178 of them 
on the motorcade route.)

The Dallas Morning News 
front-page article a few days 
earlier had been captioned: 
“Incident-free day urged for 
JFK visit.” It will not prove to 
be an incident-free day. More 
prophetically, a full-page ad 
in today’s edition is entitled 
“Welcome Mr Kennedy to 

friday
november 22

1963

Dallas,” accompanied by vitriolic 
complaint and accusation, all 
presented within a funereal 
black border.

Kennedy, dealing with a 
rift in the local party between 
Texas Governor John Connally, 
Texas senator Ralph Yarborough 
and US Vice-President Lyndon 
Johnson (also from Texas), calls 
his political advisor to sort out 
the mess. He orders Yarborough 
and Johnson to ride together in 
one limousine; Connally will be 
riding with the president.

8.50am Kennedy walks to the 
parking lot beneath the hotel, 
where up to 5,000 people are 
waiting in the drizzle. “There are 
no faint hearts in Fort Worth,” 
he tells them. Kennedy then 
goes to a formal breakfast.

9.20am Jackie Kennedy, the 
First Lady and by far the most 
revered and adored person 
in America, arrives at the 
breakfast to a standing ovation. 
She is a vast part of Kennedy’s 
appeal, and he knows and 
appreciates it. The Associated 
Press says, “She drew crowds 
by the thousands and became 
a goodwill ambassador 
for America on her own.” 
Barnstorming speeches follow.

10.30am Although Fort Worth 
and Dallas are barely 48 
kilometres apart, a distance 
that can be driven in half an 
hour, the decision has been 
made to fly there on Air Force 
One, partly because of the 
positive TV coverage that comes 
with disembarking from the 

famous plane. The entourage, including the Kennedys, Johnson 
and many others, is prepared and heads off for the airport in 
nearby Carswell just after 11am, and the flight (with Johnson in 
a separate plane) takes off at 11.25am, landing at Love Field, just 
north of Dallas, at 11.40am. Bugliosi notes that, in order to make 
for better TV, the vice-president’s plane is unloaded first, so that 
Johnson and his wife can be seen to be greeting the Kennedys at 
the bottom of the ramp, “as though they hadn’t just left them a 
quarter hour earlier in Fort Worth”. 

11.45am The presidential limousine is ready to go. Bill Greer, the 
president’s driver and a member of the Secret Service, is at the 
wheel. The car, a 1961 Lincoln Continental convertible, weighs 3.4 
tonnes because of its heavy armour — it has to be ferried around 
the country in a C-130 military transport plane — but is open and 
will not today use a bubble-top, as Kennedy prefers to be more 
clearly visible to the crowds if the weather is clear (which, after a 
bleak start, it now proves to be). The car has running boards for 
Secret Service agents to stand on along the side and at the back, 
but Kennedy does not want these used today.

11.50am Most of the staff of the Book Depository head downstairs 
for lunch. Oswald is seen by a colleague, Charles Givens, on the 
fifth floor, and asks for an elevator to be sent back up to him. 

Having shaken hands with the official welcoming party, the 
Kennedys turn towards cheering crowds at the airport fence. 
Kennedy and Jackie, who is in a pink suit now and holding 
a bouquet of red roses, shake hands with dozens of people, 
surrounded by nervous Secret Service men. However, in the crowd 
are placards, too: “YANKEE GO HOME.” “YOU’RE A TRAITOR.” 
Greer starts following the president along the fence in his car.

Finally they get into the car, with Connally and his wife, Nellie, 
seated in front of the Kennedys.

11.55am The motorcade leaves Love Field airport en route to a 
planned stop at Trade Mart 15 kilometres away. It leaves through 
an opening in the airport fence that has been opened just for 
this visit, after which it heads towards downtown Dallas: down 
Cedar Springs, to Harwood, to Main, to Elm, under the Triple 
Underpass, and out to the Mart. It is a huge motorcade: first a 
so-called pilot car, scouting the route several hundred metres 
ahead, followed by eight police motorcycles, then the lead car, 
containing police chief Curry. Then comes the presidential 
limousine with four motorcycle escorts, then a Secret Service 
follow-up car, then the vice-presidential limousine containing 
Johnson and Yarborough, another Secret Service follow-up car, 
then a string of other vehicles with more dignitaries, the press, 
cameramen, congressmen, military and Air Force aides, an 
entire press bus, physicians, personal secretaries, and a lot more 
police motorcycles. Jackie goes to put her sunglasses on — her 
husband asks her not to, so they don’t look too aloof.

12.00pm Givens at the Book Depository realises he has left his 
cigarettes in the pocket of his jacket upstairs, and takes the 
lift. He retrieves them and sees Oswald, now on the sixth floor. 
Oswald asks him to close the west elevator gate. Givens then 
heads out, but three colleagues, Bonnie Ray Williams, Harold 
Norman and James Jarman, go up to the fifth floor for a better 
view of the motorcade.

12.06pm Kennedy asks the motorcade to stop so he can speak to 
some children. Then he does so again a few blocks further on. 

12.15pm Waiting for the motorcade on Houston Street, near Dealey 
Plaza, Arnold Rowland sees a man holding a high-powered rifle 
across his chest in the window on the sixth floor of the Depository. 
Believing him to be a Secret Service man, Rowland goes to point 
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the president and 
First Lady exit the 
Texas hotel following 
the formal Fort Worth 
Chamber of Commerce 
Breakfast on the 
fateful morning

him out to his wife, but he can no 
longer see him. 

12.20pm As the motorcade 
gets closer to downtown and 
the building heights increase, 
the police find it harder and 
harder to keep people off the 
streets and out of the way of the 
motorcade. Yet still, the mood 
appears friendly. 

12.23pm The motorcade enters 
the densest crowds, on Main 
Street. Connally believes it looks 
like a quarter of a million people 
are watching. Greer slows the 
limousine to a crawl. A teenage 

boy rushes from the crowd 
holding a camera and chases the 
president’s car; he is promptly 
jumped on by a Secret Service 
agent in the follow-up car. 

Howard Brennan, on the 
corner of Houston and Elm, 
spots several people in the 
windows of the Depository: three 
black men on the fifth floor 
hanging out of the windows, and 
a man on his own sitting on the 
window sill of the sixth.

12.25pm A Dallas dressmaker 
called Abraham Zapruder 
decides on the right spot to set 
up his new eight-millimetre Bell 
and Howell movie camera.

12.28pm The pilot car, red lights 
stridently flashing, sweeps off 
Main onto Houston Street, and 
into Dealey Plaza.

12.29pm The motorcade moves 
into Dealey Plaza. Nellie Connally 
turns to the president and says, 
“They can’t make you believe now 
that there are not some in Dallas 
who love you and appreciate you, 
can they?” Kennedy replies, “No, 
they sure can’t.” These may be 
his last words.

As the motorcade takes 
the slow corner at Elm and 
Houston, Abraham Zapruder 
starts filming. 

12.30pm There is a shot, but not 
everybody hears it: some think 
it is the sound of a sputtering 
motorcycle. Some will later 
say they see sparks fly off 
the far left hand lane of the 
road, behind the presidential 
limousine. Some agents hear 
it clearly: Paul Landis, on the 
right running board of the 
follow-up car, hears it, looks 
behind him and draws his gun. 
Rufus Youngblood, another 
Secret Service man, riding 
with the vice-president, tells 
Johnson to get down. Connally, 
a lifelong hunter, is certain it is 
a high-powered rifle shot and 
looks over his right shoulder. 
Realising what is happening, he 
shouts, “Oh no, no, no!” Jackie 
Kennedy, hearing him, turns 
towards him. 

James Worrell Jr is standing 
in front of the Book Depository 
and, when he hears the first 
shot, looks straight up and sees 
six inches (15 centimetres) of 
gun barrel from a high window.

Brennan, who had seen the 
men in the building earlier, 
looks up and sees the man in 
the sixth floor window aiming 
a rifle straight down Elm 
Street towards the presidential 
limousine. He fires again.

12.30pm A second shot is 
fired. On the fifth floor of the 
Depository, where three workers 
are watching the view, it is so 
loud that the windows rattle 
and loose plaster falls from 
the ceiling on to Bonnie Ray 
Williams’ hair.

The president visibly stiffens, 
his elbows rise up high and 
his hands move towards his 
throat. In the follow-up car 
behind him agent Glen Bennett 
shouts, “He’s hit!” Agent Clint 
Hill jumps off the running board 
of the follow-up car and runs 
for the president’s limousine. 
Roy Kellerman, who is in the 
president’s car sitting next to 
Greer, turns back and believes 
he hears the president say “My 
God, I am hit!” though nobody 

else in the car hears this. 
Connally, meanwhile, who is 
seated in front of Kennedy, is 
in the middle of turning around 
when he feels a hard blow in his 
own back. His chest is covered 
in blood. His wife, Nellie, pulls 
him into her arms, and puts her 
head down over his.

Jackie turns to her husband.
Kellerman, in the front seat, 

turns to Greer, who in turning 
to look over the shoulder has 
actually slowed the car down. 
“Let’s get out of here. We’re hit,” 
Kellerman tells Greer. Too late.

James Worrell Jr, still 
looking up, sees flame and 
smoke come from the barrel of 
the gun he can see. 

12.30pm A third shot, and 
Abraham Zapruder captures 
its results in horrifying detail. 
The right side of the president’s 
head explodes and a pink 
mist fills the air. Jackie is 15 
centimetres away and looking 
straight at him when it hits. 
His body bounces off the back 
of the seat and topples onto 
her. Connally hears her shout, 
“They’ve killed my husband. I 
have his brains in my hand.”

Jackie Kennedy, in shock 
and in an action she will never 
remember, starts crawling out 
of the back of the car, as if to 
go off the end. Secret Service 
agent Hill, who was on the car 
behind, reaches a handhold on 
the back of the car and pushes 
the first lady back in to her seat. 
He hangs on to the back as the 
limousine picks up speed. 

Zapruder keeps filming as 
the limousine disappears under 
the Triple Underpass. 

12.31pm Greer floors the 
accelerator and the car 
speeds away, too late. Hill, still 
hanging on the back, can see 
a chunk of Kennedy’s head 
with hair on it on the seat. 
He realises that Connally is 
hit too. Jackie is cradling her 
husband, whimpering. They 
head for Parkland Memorial 
Hospital, about six and a half 
kilometres from Dealey Plaza. 
On the Stemmons Freeway en 
route, they will hit almost 145 
kilometres per hour.

There is 
a shot, 
but not 
everybody 
hears it: 
some think 
it is the 
sound of a 
sputtering 
motorcycle

oswald seen on the sixth floor of the depository

12.23pm
three shots are fired, the third hitting kennedy in the head

12.30pm

critics say that though the 
target was never more than 
82 metres from Oswald, it was 
moving; the car was obscured 
for some of the time by an oak 
tree; and Oswald was using an 
unimpressive rifle not known 
for accuracy. The Warren 
Commission, using expert 
riflemen from both the US Army 
and the FBI, could not replicate 
his speed and accuracy in tests.

Oswald had served in the 
Marines and was tested twice 
in rifle marksmanship, once 
scoring 212 out of 250, and 
once 191. Lieutenant Colonel 
Allison Folsom, interpreting 
this for the Warren Commission, 
agreed with his questioner that 
Oswald was “not a particularly 
outstanding shot”.

there is also the issue of 
speed. A Mannlicher-Carcano 
rifle is very hard to reload, and 
some believe it would have been 
impossible to fire three shots 
from it in the time that Oswald 
had, regardless of accuracy

could oswald have 
made those shots?
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above: across the globe, the 
president's assassination made 
front-page news
right: oswald, pictured holding 
two Marxist newspapers and 
a Mannlicher-Carcano rifle 
that has markings matching 
those on the weapon found in 
the Depository building after 
kennedy's assassination

Already, there is confusion 
about where the shots have 
come from. Some police head 
for the overpass, others for the 
Depository Building. Some say 
the shots came from behind 
a white fence on what will 

become known as the Grassy 
Knoll. There is chaos, absolute 
pandemonium, in Dealey Plaza.

Journalists in the following 
cars are largely in the dark 
about what has happened, but 
the first report comes from 
Merriman Smith, who works for 
United Press International and 
is in the front seat of the press 
pool car with access to the car’s 
only radio telephone — to the 
considerable distress of his 
rival from the Associated Press, 
Jack Bell, who is sitting behind 
him. Smith’s report says, “Three 
shots were fired at President 
Kennedy’s motorcade in 
downtown Dallas.” Symptomatic 
of the great confusion at the 
time, he reports that there 
are “no casualties”. The story 
flashes at 12.34pm and the 
entire country begins to grind to 
a halt as the word spreads.

Officer Marrion Baker is the 
first policeman to go in to the 
Depository, quickly grabbing 
the building superintendent 
Roy Truly. At the second floor 
landing, he sees a man who 
will turn out to be Oswald. Truly 
confirms Oswald works there, 
and they move on. Oswald 
leaves the building.

12.34pm The presidential 
limousine, having miraculously 
not crashed en route, turns 
up at Parkland Hospital’s 
emergency entrance to find 
nobody there. Orderlies and 
stretchers are quickly found, 
and the president, lifeless, 

is loaded onto one, with 
Connally, drifting in and out of 
consciousness, in the other. 

12.38pm Kennedy is logged into 
an emergency room.

12.39pm Oswald 
gets onto a bus.

12.40pm CBS 
is showing As 
the World Turns, 
a soap opera. 
Actress Helen 
Wagner says to 
fellow actor Santos 
Ortega, “And I 
gave it a great 
deal of thought, 
Grandpa.” At that 
moment, a blank 
screen appears 
with the words 
“CBS NEWS” and 

“BULLETIN”. Walter Cronkite, 
the most famous voice in 
American media, speaks: “Here 
is a bulletin from CBS News. In 
Dallas, Texas, three shots were 
fired at President Kennedy’s 
motorcade, in downtown Dallas. 
The first reports say President 
Kennedy has been seriously 
wounded by this shooting.” 
Similar announcements appear 
on ABC and NBC. All three 
networks will soon suspend 
programming for several days 
to cover the assassination.

Dr Charles Carrico assesses 
the president’s desperate 
condition. He puts his ear to 
Kennedy’s chest and detects 
a faint heartbeat. Everyone 
knows it is futile, but he and 
his colleagues — Dr Malcolm 
Perry soon takes charge, and a 
cast of dozens are involved — go 
through the motions of trying 
to save him. Jackie Kennedy, 
still covered in blood, insists on 
being in the room.

12.43pm Bobby Kennedy, the 
president’s brother and the 
US Attorney General, is at his 
home in Hickory Hill, outside 
Washington DC, when he 
receives a call from J Edgar 
Hoover, head of the FBI. It is 
without compassion. “The 
president’s been shot. It’s 
believed to be fatal.”

12.45pm Witnesses begin to 
approach the police, talking 
about the man they saw in 
the Depository building. A 

description — “unknown white 
male, approximately 30, slender 
build, height five feet ten inches 
(roughly 1.8 metres), weight 
165 pounds (75 kilograms), 
reported to be armed with what 
is thought to be a .30 calibre 
rifle” — is read out by the police 
dispatcher. Meanwhile Oswald, 
his bus becalmed in traffic, has 
disembarked and catches a cab 
to North Beckley, in the Dallas 
suburb of Oak Cliff.

12.53pm NBC cancels all 
regular programmes, an 
arrangement that will remain in 
place until Tuesday, November 
26. Other networks do the same.

12.58pm Police Captain Will 
Fritz and his team arrive 
at the Depository Building. 
Fritz will be instrumental to 
the investigation. Meanwhile 
Father Frank Huber drives into 
Parkland to administer the last 
rites to Kennedy, a Catholic. 

At this time, Oswald arrives 
at the tiny room he rents in Oak 
Cliff — he is estranged from 
his wife and children, and sees 
them only on some weekends. 
He gets a revolver and his 
jacket, before leaving again.

1pm Dr Malcolm Perry tries to 
give the president CPR but the 
line on the heart monitor is flat 
green. A white sheet is pulled 
over Kennedy’s face.

The president is dead. Huber 
delivers last rites. 

1.05pm Bobby Kennedy is 
notified. Through his grief, in the 
following hour he will instruct 
the national security advisor, 
McGeorge Bundy, to change the 
locks on his brother’s personal 
files, and dismantle the secret 
taping system he had installed 
in the Oval Office. 

1.06pm Fritz and his team begin 
searching the sixth floor of the 
Depository Building. In a corner 
they find a sniper’s nest: a stack 
of boxes that would hide a person 
from view. There are three spent 
cartridge casings on the floor.

1.07pm News of the president’s 
shooting has reached the New 
York Stock Exchange. The 
market is plunging.

1.08pm Officer JD Tippit is 
driving around Oak Cliff when 

he sees a man who roughly fits 
the description that the police 
dispatcher put out earlier. It is 
Oswald. Tippit begins tailing him.

1.10pm Johnson is told of 
Kennedy’s death. A moment 
later Malcolm Kilduff, a White 
House spokesman, addresses 
Johnson as “Mr President” 
for the first time. They begin 
making arrangements to get 
back to the plane, but Johnson 
won’t leave Texas without Jackie 
Kennedy. And she won’t leave 
without her husband’s body.

1.12pm Tippit pulls up next to 
Oswald and walks around the 
front of his car to talk to him. 
Suddenly Oswald pulls a gun 
and shoots him four times. 
Tippit falls to the ground and 
Oswald shoots once more, right 
into Tippit’s head. There are 
numerous witnesses as Oswald 
walks away.

1.16pm Walter Cronkite tells the 
nation the president has died.

1.20pm A hospital staff member 
sees a bullet on one of the 
stretchers Kennedy and Connally 
were brought in on. This will 
become a key piece of evidence.

1.22pm Police find a rifle wedged 
between boxes on the sixth floor 
of the Depository store. It still 
has a round in the chamber.

1.26pm Johnson and his team 
head back to Love Field.

1.30pm Undertaker Vernon 
O’Neal arrives at Parkland  
with the most expensive casket 
he has to offer.

At the Texas School 
Depository, building supervisor 

already, there is 
confusion about 
where the shots 
have come from. 
some police head 
for the overpass, 
others for the 
depository 
building. there is 
chaos, absolute 
pandemonium

word quickly spreads of the shooting

12.31pm
the presidential limousine arrives at parkland hospital

12.34pm
will fritz arrives at the depository building

12.58pm
kennedy is declared dead

1.00pm
oswald is spotted in oak cliff

1.08pm KENNEDY

P
H

O
TO

: g
e

t
t

y
 i
m

a
g

e
s

 (
m

a
in

)



45
DISCOVERY CHANNEL MAGAZINE

44
DISCOVERY CHANNEL MAGAZINE

Truly has gone through his 
roster and realised that one 
staff member is missing: 
Oswald. He tells Fritz. 

1.33pm Kilduff begins a press 
conference in a classroom in 
the hospital’s medical school. 
He says, “President John F 
Kennedy died at approximately 
one o’clock Central Standard 
Time here in Dallas.”

1.36pm Oswald enters the Texas 
Theatre. By now he has been 
noticed by several bystanders. 

Word is spreading across 
America. People simply stop in 
the streets. Church bells toll, 
and the churches themselves 
fill up. Football games are 
cancelled, racetracks close, 
television pretty much ends. 
Word also spreads worldwide. 
West Berlin mayor Willy Brandt 
remarks, “A flame went out for 
all those who had hoped for a 
just peace and a better world.”

1.39pm Johnson is on board Air 
Force One but does not want to 
leave without Jackie Kennedy. 
Johnson calls Bobby Kennedy 
to discuss whether and how 
he (Johnson) should be sworn 
in as president, something 
Kennedy finds insensitive and 
unnecessary. However, putting 
his feelings aside, he does 
not object. Johnson reaches a 
local judge, Sarah Hughes, who 
agrees to officiate. 

1.48pm Police arrive at the 
Texas Theatre. They go row by 
row and then confront Oswald. 
Oswald punches one of the 
officers and draws a gun, but is 
overpowered and arrested. 

1.53pm The police bundle 
Oswald into a car and check his 
wallet. It contains ID not just in 
the name Oswald, but another: A 
J Hidell. Oswald is unemotional.

1.58pm Oswald arrives at 
City Hall, where the police 
headquarters are located. 

2.04pm A near-brawl is 
developing over custody of the 
president’s body. Since it is a 
homicide, normal policy at the 
hospital is for an autopsy to 
be held in the state of Texas 
where the crime took place, 
but Kennedy’s Secret Service 
men want to take the body back 

to Washington, in large part 
out of consideration for Jackie 
Kennedy. Through brute force 
more than anything, the Secret 
Service win, and Kennedy’s body 
is wheeled out of the hospital.

2.14pm Jackie Kennedy, the 
casket and the president’s staff 
arrive back at Love Field again. 
The back rows of seats have 
been taken out of the plane to 
accommodate the coffin. The 
men struggle to get the casket 
up the back ramp to the plane.

2.15pm The FBI realise, with 
some consternation, that they 
have had a file on Oswald and 
his wife for some time. It was 
known that Oswald, a former 
US Marine, had tried to defect to 
the Soviet Union, and had visited 
the Soviet embassy in Mexico 
City. He is also a long-standing 
member of a movement 
advocating greater respect 
towards Cuba’s government.

2.25pm Fritz begins to 
interrogate Oswald. Fritz is 
considered one of the best in his 
profession at this job, but has a 
calm and peaceful demeanour, 
drawing information out of 
suspects after developing an 
aura of trust with them. He will 
spend much of the next two 
days questioning Oswald, who is 
calm and apparently completely 
unworried. Oswald never comes 
close to confessing.

2.38pm Johnson puts his hand 
on a Catholic prayer book. 
His wife, Claudia “Lady Bird” 
Johnson, is on his right, and 
Jackie Kennedy, her Chanel suit 
still covered in her husband’s 
blood, on his left. Hughes 
swears him in: Lyndon Johnson 
is the President of the United 
States of America. Now the 
plane gets airborne and heads 
back for Washington.

3.15pm Johnson makes his first 
phone call as president: to Rose 
Kennedy, John’s mother. 

4.58pm Air Force One lands 
at Andrews Air Force Base in 
Maryland, outside Washington. 
The first person on board is 
Bobby Kennedy, storming up the 
steps and ignoring Johnson’s 
outstretched hand in his haste 
to reach Jackie. The president’s 
men move his casket from the 

plane. Johnson is taken by 
helicopter to the White House; 
the first thing he does is write 
notes to Kennedy’s two young 
children, Caroline and John. 
Neither has yet been told.

5.55pm A naval ambulance 
takes Kennedy’s body through 
silent, people-lined streets to 
the hospital at Bethesda where 
his autopsy will be held. 

The autopsy will be 
conducted by Dr James Humes 
and Dr J Thornton Boswell, 
and will conclude that Kennedy 
was hit by two bullets. The first, 
which will come to be known as 
the Magic Bullet, hit Kennedy in 
the upper back, exited through 
his throat, and then hit Connally; 
the second, fatal shot hit the 
right side of his head.

7.55pm Detectives take Oswald 
from jail to Fritz’s office; 
the hallways are now full of 
reporters. Oswald tells them, 
“I’m just a patsy!”

10.15pm While all of this has 
been happening, nightclub 
proprietor Jack Ruby, who runs 
Dallas’ Carousel nightclub, 
has been working himself 
into a frenzy of grief about the 
president’s death. He closes his 
club for days, something he can 
ill afford to do. He spends much 
of the day in tears and, around 
this time, gatecrashes his way 
into the police department, 
where he is well known.

11.20pm The police believe 
they have sufficient evidence to 
charge Oswald with the murders 
of Tippet and Kennedy. The 
charge is written up and filed at 
11.26pm. It is an extraordinary 
job the Dallas police have done 
today: 11.5 hours to catch the 
man they believe responsible 
for murdering a nation’s leader, 
and gather sufficient evidence 
against him to prosecute.

1am NBC prepares to shut down 
for the night. Announcer David 
Brinkley sums it up. “It is one 
of the ugliest days in American 
history. In about four hours 
we have gone from President 
Kennedy in Dallas, alive, to back 
in Washington, dead, and a new 
president in his place. There is 
really no more to say except that 
what happened has been just 
too much, too ugly and too fast.”

above: Kennedy's 
remains are unloaded 
from Air Force One at 
andrews air force base 
in washington dc
right: Dr Michael Baden, 
chief medical examiner 
of New York City, 
uses a drawing when 
giving testimony, to 
demonstrate the path 
of the bullet through 
Kennedy's head
far right: Judge Sarah 
Hughes swears Lyndon 
Johnson in as president 
aboard Air Force One 
at Love Field, Dallas. 
among others, jackie 
kennedy, who is on 
johnson's left, and his 
wife, claudia "lady bird" 
johnson, on his right, 
stand as witnesses

the "magic bullet" is found on a stretcher at parkland the president's casket arrives in washington

1.20pm
oswald is arrested

1.48pm
lyndon johnson is sworn in as the new president of the united states

2.38pm 4.58pm

For the magic bullet theory to 
be correct, one bullet must 
have gone through Kennedy’s 
neck, and Connally’s chest, 
wrist and thigh. That entails 
penetrating 15 layers of 
clothing, seven layers of skin, 
and 15 inches (38 centimetres) of 
tissue and bone, removing four 
inches (over 10 centimetres) 
of rib along the way. Connally, 
among others, never accepted 
this could all have been done 
by one bullet. This is the bullet 
that was found on a stretcher 
at Parkland, and from the 
side, it looks completely 
intact, although its tail was 
compressed on one side. 
The condition of the bullet 
particularly alarms theorists: 
according to the Warren 
Commission, it had no thread 
striations, and was marked 
with no blood, human tissue or 
clothing. However, theorists 
tend to show the side-on 
picture (which looks pristine) 
rather than the one at the  
base (which shows deformation), 
and the metallurgical 
composition of the bullet was 
the same as fragments found  
in Connally’s wrist

The Magic 
Bullet theory
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At 2.30am, the Dallas police 
receives a call warning that 
Oswald will be killed “tonight, 
tomorrow morning, or tomorrow 
night”. The caller hangs up.

The police have already told 
the press that they will transfer 
Oswald to the county jail around 
10am that day, and despite the 
warning, they go ahead and do 
so, wishing to keep the media 
onside. This task involves 
taking Oswald down in a lift to 
the parking garage downstairs 
in City Hall, where a crowd is 
already building. The basement 
area is supposed to be cleared 
of anyone but authorised 
personnel — which in practice 
means hundreds of reporters 
and cameramen. 

That morning, Ruby — who 
remains distraught, to the 
surprise of those who know 
him — gets up and reads in 
the Times Herald a letter to 
“My Dear Caroline”, addressed 
to Kennedy’s daughter, and 
expressing the sadness of 
a Dallas resident to a child 
who has lost her father. Ruby 
is deeply affected by it, and 
reads in the same paper that 
Jackie Kennedy may have to 
be a witness at Oswald’s trial. 
According to the official version 
of events, the combination of 
these two facts — and the news 
that Oswald has not confessed 
— enrage Ruby sufficiently to 
believe that someone must kill 
Oswald, to avoid further distress 
to Jackie and her children. That 
morning he goes to Western 
Union to wire some money to an 
employee at his club, and then 
heads to City Hall.

Meanwhile in Washington, 
the completed autopsy is 
delivered, concluding that 
Kennedy was hit by two bullets, 
fired from behind and above the 

president, with the fatal missile 
hitting the skull.

Awaiting his transfer, Fritz 
again questions Oswald, and is 
now able to confront him with 
details about the rifle, and also 
his membership of the Fair 
Play for Cuba Committee. He is 
happy enough to admit that, and 
to talk a little about ideology. 
But he evades everything else. 

11.18am Fritz and Curry confer 
and conclude they are ready to 
transfer Oswald. Curry heads 
down to the basement. Secret 
Service agent Forrest Sorrels 
approaches Fritz and says, “If 
I were you, I would not move 
Oswald to the county jail at 
an announced time like this. 
I would take him out at three 
or four in the morning when 
there’s no one around.” Fritz 
agrees, yet it’s not up to him.

11.19am Oswald, his hands 
manacled in front, is attached by 
a pair of handcuffs to homicide 
detective Jim Leavelle. “Lee, if 
anybody shoots at you, I hope 
they’re as good a shot as you 
are,” he says. Several floors 
below, a convoy of an armoured 
truck and accompanying cars 
is assembled at the top of the 
ramp leading into City Hall. 
Officers are trying to move 
reporters so they are not in the 
way, with little success. 

Oswald, with Leavelle, Fritz 
and other police officers, is 
taken to the lift.

11.20am The lift descends. Ruby 
reaches the top of the ramp, 
and keeps on walking. Halfway 
down he hears somebody — 
presumably patrolman Roy 
Vaughn — shout “Hey, you!” at 
him, but keeps walking into the 
scrum of reporters.

The cordon of detectives 
around Oswald leaves the lift 
and are instantly swamped by 
reporters, photographers, and 
the heavy cameras of NBC and 
CBS (ABC is waiting at the county 
jail instead). Correspondents of 
the networks shout into their 
microphones for airtime, and in 
NBC’s case are instantly granted 
it; not CBS, which is waiting for a 
previous piece to finish. 

The detectives are 
temporarily blinded by flash 
bulbs and then see that 

It is 1.35am by the time Judge 
David Johnston reads the 
Kennedy murder charge, 
complaint number F-154, to 
Oswald. Most of the other 
characters in our story then 
get some much-needed sleep, 

but Ruby, who tends to keep a 
nocturnal existence anyway, 
is up all night, visiting a radio 
station amongst other places. 
Just before 3am, the Kennedys 
at Bethesda are told the autopsy 
is complete and they can take 
the president’s body home. Not 
until Jackie goes to bed in the 
small hours does she take off 
her bloodstained clothes. Fritz 
heads home at 3.45am. 

Detective work continues all 
night, however. At 4am, Klein’s 
Sporting Goods in Chicago 
finds in its records the order 
form for the rifle with the serial 
number C2766, the one found in 
the Depository, a Mannlicher-
Carcano. The name is "A Hidell" 
and the address is PO Box 
2915 in Dallas. Hidell, the FBI 

agents in attendance know, is 
the name on the second ID card 
in Oswald’s wallet when he was 
arrested. Later in the day, the 
US Postal Records Center in 
Alexandria, Virginia, will locate 
the original money order used 
to purchase the weapon. The 
handwriting on it is Oswald’s.

Back at the White House, 
Johnson wins few friends by 
turning up at the door of Evelyn 
Lincoln, Kennedy’s long-serving 
secretary, and asking if he can 
move his staff in — basically 
giving her half an hour to clear 
out. Bobby Kennedy confronts 
him, and eventually Johnson 
doesn’t move in to the Oval Office 
until Kennedy is buried. Jackie 
and the children remain in the 
White House until December 7.

Also today, Zapruder sells 
his film to Life magazine for 
US$50,000 for print rights only 
(he will later change this to all 
rights for US$150,000 in six 
instalments, the first of which 
he donated to the widow and 
family of police officer Tippit).

Around the globe, nations are 
waking up in mourning. Even 
the Soviet Union is sympathetic, 
with Khrushchev turning up 
at the American embassy in 
Moscow to pay his respects. 
China is the one brazenly 
gloating exception. 

The questioning of Oswald 
continues, but he yields little. 
He sees his wife and brother 
during the day but, assuming 
his conversations are recorded, 
doesn’t say much. 

saturday
november 23

1963

sunday
november 24

1963

oswald is charged for kennedy's murder a rifle order form under the name "a hidell" is foundjackie kennedy returns home oswald is to be transferred to the county jail oswald is escorted to city hall's parking garage

1.35am, november 23 1963 november 24 1963 11.19am4.00ampast 3.00am

above left: the horse-
drawn caisson bearing 
kennedy's flag-draped 
casket leads the funeral 
cortège in washington dc
above: the accused assassin 
Oswald (third from left) 
being escorted by police 
officers and detectives
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the car waiting for them is 
still reversing into position. 
Reporters try to put questions 
to Oswald. And in the midst of 
this melee, Ruby elbows his way 
through the crowd with a gun.

11.21am Ruby gets one shot off. 
It hits Oswald in the stomach. 
The picture of the moment, with 
Oswald’s face contorted in pain 
and a stunned Leavelle looking 
aghast in his white hat, will win 
Robert Jackson, then of the 
Dallas Times-Herald, a Pulitzer 
prize. Tom Pettit on NBC, 
broadcasting live to America, 
says, “He’s been shot. He’s been 
shot. Oswald’s been shot.”

Leavelle and another officer, 
LC Graves, jump on Ruby to get 
the gun off him. Ruby says, “I 
hope I killed the son of a bitch.”

There is chaos in the packed 
garage. Pettit shouts to the 
nation: “There’s absolute panic, 
absolute panic here in the 
basement of the Dallas Police 
Headquarters… pandemonium 
has broken loose here!” He 
does better than Bob Huffaker, 
reporting live for CBS, who 
gets as far as “and no one 
is…” before he is flattened by a 
frenzy of reporters.

Oswald is quickly dragged 
back into the jail office and the 
handcuffs removed. 

11.22am Frederick Bieberdorf, 
a medical student, is the on-
duty first aid attendant for the 
city jail. He detects no pulse, 
heartbeat or breathing; he can 
feel the bullet between the 
ribs on Oswald’s right side, 
meaning it has gone all the way 
through his torso. Oswald is 
put in an ambulance and taken 
to Parkland, just like Kennedy 
two days earlier; he is treated in 
Trauma Room Two, across the 
hall from where Kennedy had 
been. Dr Malcolm Perry — who 
had worked to save Kennedy — 
is in charge of efforts to save 
him, which at one stage appear 
to have a possibility of success. 
But eventually his heart fails. He 
is pronounced dead at 1.07pm.

While all this is happening, 
Jackie Kennedy and her children 
are watching the president’s 
casket being taken from the 
North Portico of the White 
House and placed in an artillery 
caisson, where six white horses 
pull it up Pennsylvania Avenue 
to the Capitol. Several hundred 

thousand people line the route, 
in almost total silence. As a 
21-gun salute fades to a navy 
band playing ‘Hail to the Chief’, 
Jackie Kennedy sobs openly. 
When she and little Caroline kiss 
the closed casket — his wounds 
have been too dreadful for an 
open one to be considered — 
cameras cut away to the Joint 
Chiefs of Staff, all standing at 
attention, and all crying.

Also simultaneously, Ruby 
is interviewed by stunned 
policemen, Secret Service and 
FBI staff. His story is clear and 
repeated: somebody had to kill 
Oswald, just in case he got off, 
and Ruby was the man to do it. 

It won’t take long until 
conspiracy theories start; they 
are aired on television that 
very evening. Americans will 
never now see Oswald put on 
trial, and any chance of Oswald 
incriminating anyone else who 
might have been involved is now 
gone. There are suggestions 
that the Dallas police let Oswald 
be killed. Later, it will be 
alleged, frequently, that Ruby 
was representing Mob interests 
to stop Oswald from talking. 

Monday, November 25 brings 
Kennedy’s funeral, which — 
apart from the grief involved 
— is also a grave concern to 
a jumpy Secret Service. “It’s a 
bodyguard’s nightmare,” says 
Vincent Bugliosi. “Walking 
bareheaded, in plain view of 
any potential sniper, are 22 
presidents, 10 prime ministers, 
and much of the world’s 
remaining royalty. There are 
more than 200 officials from a 
hundred countries, the United 
Nations, and the Roman Catholic 
Church. An estimated one 
million people line the funeral 
procession route.” Nevertheless 
Johnson refuses to use a 

bulletproof car. He and his wife 
walk behind the Kennedys.

As it turns out, the 93 percent 
of American television sets that 
tune in — 175 million people — 
see not another shooting, but 
heartbreaking images of tiny 
John Kennedy Junior saluting 
his father’s casket. 

At 2pm, police officer Tippit 
is buried in Dallas. And at 
4pm, Oswald is buried in Rose 
Hill Cemetery. There are no 
pallbearers for Oswald, and 
his coffin — a cheap wooden 
box draped in cloth — ends up 
being carried to the grave by six 
reporters covering the funeral. 

A few days later, President 
Johnson addresses Congress. 
At the end of his remarks he 
says, “No memorial or oration 
or eulogy could more eloquently 
honour President Kennedy’s 
memory than the earliest 
possible passage of the civil 
rights bill for which he fought 
for so long.” It passes shortly 
afterwards: perhaps the greatest 
single legacy of Kennedy’s 
tenure as US President.

The first and probably most 
well-known investigation into the 
assassination was the Warren 
Commission, which concluded 
Oswald acted alone, but many 
inquiries have been held, with 
varying conclusions. Over the 
years, suspicion of the official 
version of events has grown; 
polls have found as many as 80 
percent of Americans believe 
there was a cover-up of some 
degree. It's often said something 
else died with Kennedy — public 
trust of politicians.

Discovery Channel airs two JFK 
specials this month (see page 106). 

the 
aftermath

ruby makes his way down the ramp to city hall's parking garage kennedy' funeral, where an estimated one million people line the procession route
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top: jack ruby lunging 
forward with a gun 
aimed at oswald. he only 
managed to get off one 
shot before the police 
subdued him — but that 
was enough to kill oswald
above: This is the last 
picture to be captured 
of Ruby. It was taken 
November 25, 1963 as he 
was booked into Dallas 
County Jail, charged with 
Oswald's murder
right: jackie kennedy with 
her two young children, 
caroline and john 
kennedy junior, at her 
husband's funeral

ruby's 
story is 
clear and 
repeated: 
somebody 
had to kill 
Oswald, 
just in case 
he got off, 
and Ruby 
was the 
man to do it

ruby takes a shot at oswald
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